Visual Effects (VFX) Junior 2D Artist Assessment Plan

Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Overview
- 3. On Programme Assessment
- 4. End Point Assessment
- 5. Ensuring Independence
- 6. Delivering Consistent, Reliable Judgements
- 7. Delivering Accurate, Valid Judgements
- 8. Graded Assessments
- 9. Affordability and Sustainability
- 10. Quality Assurance and Quality Control
- 11. Manageability and Feasibility
- 12. Professional Recognition
- 13. Implementation Plan

Introduction

Junior 2D artists are responsible for assisting the senior visual effects artists by preparing elements for use in the final VFX shot. This will include:

- creating mattes (masking areas of the live action footage) by roto-scoping (tracing • around objects in the frames) and keying (isolating areas of blue/green screen in the live action footage) to allow all elements of the scene to be layered convincingly by a compositor.
- removing erroneous objects within the live action footage, such as camera/lighting equipment and safety stunt wires and rigs.
- producing simple composites (combining live action elements and computer • generated imagery to create a shot that looks as if it was captured at the same time by a single camera). These simple composites could be for editorial purposes for test screenings of the film and will be replaced by an experienced compositor or they could be used in the final film for simple VFX shots.

Junior 2D artists utilise artistic knowledge in areas such as composition and colour in addition to accepted industry standard compositing software and operating systems. They are expected to work well within a team and to be good communicators and problem solvers.

Upon successful completion of their Apprenticeship the individual will typically progress to become a compositor and may eventually become a 2D or VFX Supervisor. Junior 2D Artists will typically be employed by a range of small to large post-production companies servicing the British and International Film, Television and Commercial industries. They will usually be based in an office environment working on television commercials, television series and feature films.

The approach to assessment has been designed to be appropriate, relevant and feasible for Apprentices employed in SMEs as well as larger, nationally recognised VFX studios and to ensure consistency across these contexts.

Employers have adopted the following broad principles to inform the approach to assessment:

- Assessment is driven by the Standards and covers the full competencies across knowledge, skills and behaviours.
- Assessment motivates the Apprentice to achieve high standards in the quality of their • work and encourages the development of sophisticated workplace behaviours to support their professional development. The determinants of pass and distinction grades give apprentices a clear goal for which to aim.

- The assessment process adds value to both Apprentice and employers regardless of size, by complementing and building on normal management and development tools such as appraisals.
- The assessment will position the Apprenticeship not just as a job but as the starting or continuation point for a career in the Industry.
- Recommended progressive, structured support throughout the duration of the Apprenticeship through regular Appraisals marks a clear recognition of achievements on which the Apprentice has built and on which s/he can continue to build on completion of the Apprenticeship.
- The assessment tools are designed to replicate, as far as possible, live workplace scenarios and activity in response to live studio briefs. They are designed to include and complement typical existing talent management processes so as to reduce the additional assessment cost burden.
- An assessment methodology comprising a mixed set of tools enables the Apprentice to play to their strengths and ensures that they are not disadvantaged by the restriction of one assessment method on one occasion only.
- Grading at pass and distinction supports the Apprentice to achieve the highest standards.
- Regular recording of their learning and progress throughout the Apprenticeship in a Reflective Blog (included in Portfolio) encourages the Apprentice to develop skills in critical self -awareness and the ability to receive and respond to feedback on their work.

<u>Overview</u>

The Assessment Plan is based upon regular recruitment and training industry practice: **On Programme:**

 A recommended series of Quarterly Appraisals at agreed dates during the on programme part of the Apprenticeship. This will ensure that the Apprentice is ready for the End Point Assessment tasks identified below. Appraisal meetings should be conducted by the employer who will decide whether the Apprentice is making sufficient progress. Wherever possible the training provider will attend.

End Point:

- A 2 hour Timed Knowledge Test to assess the essential underpinning theoretical knowledge including compositing and image manipulation.
- A 6 hour Synoptic Competence Activity to demonstrate the Apprentice's ability to work independently.
- A Portfolio of work demonstrating the Apprentice's best achievements against the Standard. The Portfolio will be marked by the independent assessor and will be expected to include:
 - o Evidence from day to day real work activities
 - A reflective blog
 - The results of an employer set synoptic project conducted in the studio by the employer in real time demonstrating the ability to work within a team in a real work environment.
 - \circ $\,$ Any personal projects which have been completed during the Apprenticeship $\,$

 A structured interview with an independent assessor from the Assessment Organisation – exploring the contents of the Portfolio and the reflections of the Apprentice on their progression through the Apprenticeship.

Learning and On Programme Assessment

The Apprentice learns new skills at work, and through formal training provision. The learning is applied to tasks set by the employer. Employer appraisal of each completed task is followed by the reflection and the cycle repeats. The overall progress of the Apprentice is assessed at periodic points through an Appraisal ideally with the provider in attendance. The Apprentice's reflection, learning and progress is contained in their portfolio.

End Point Assessment

The Apprentice progresses to the End Point Assessment when their employer indicates they are ready to achieve the required standard.





On Programme

Appraisals

The Apprenticeship will typically take two years to complete so an Apprentice is unlikely to be in a position to undertake the End Point Assessment before they have completed 18 months. This will ensure they have the opportunity to develop all areas of the Standard. The Apprenticeship therefore needs a robust process of on programme formative assessment to ensure that the apprentice makes good progress towards the End Point Assessment and that they are able to

Crown copyright 2016 You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence. Visit www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence

4

produce work of a sufficiently high standard. This will ensure they can attest to the required level of knowledge, skills and behaviours.

The approach to on programme formative assessment is based on normal performance management processes experienced by employees in the industry where an individual appraisal system is used to provide feedback and guide professional development. The Apprentice will be expected to compile a Reflective Blog as part of their Portfolio throughout their Apprenticeship which will support them in preparing for, and reflecting on, their Appraisals. It is suggested that these take place quarterly and are recorded by the Apprentice in the Reflective Blog. This should be in addition to regular monitoring, guidance and support offered by the training provider and employer.

Apprentices will be encouraged to develop and maintain examples of their work throughout their Apprenticeship. Apprentices will be supported by the training provider to select the best pieces of work to be included in their Portfolio.

End Point Assessment

This will typically take place in the last 3 months of the Apprenticeship using four assessment methods:

- Timed knowledge test *
- Synoptic competence activity *
- Portfolio
- Structured interview

* Will require invigilation.

Timed Knowledge Test

The Timed Knowledge Test will ensure that the Apprentice possesses the knowledge to apply the technical theory of the compositing and image manipulation elements of the Standard. 2 hour test papers will be developed and managed by the Assessment Organisation. This assessment method has a 'pass' only grade, with no 'distinction'. The pass mark will be established as part of the process of appointing the Assessment Organisation but it is likely that this will be in excess of 50%. In order to pass, the Apprentice must demonstrate a high level of knowledge in the following areas of the Standard:

- Principles of colour space
- Pixel maths operations
- Image manipulation

Synoptic Competence Activity

The Synoptic Competence Activity reflects a typical business related activity and is designed to test the Apprentice's practical skills knowledge and behaviours in a controlled environment.

The purpose is to ensure the consistency of assessment of Apprentices, irrespective of their particular workplace and must therefore be completed outside of day–to- day work pressures. This activity should not take longer than 6 hours.

The Synoptic Competence Activity and pass criteria will be set by the Assessment Organisation in consultation with the lead employer group and assessed by the Independent Assessor (appointed by the Assessment Organisation) who will make their own judgement on the quality of the work. This assessment method has a 'Pass' criteria only (i.e no 'Distinction'). To meet the 'Pass' criteria, the Apprentice will be expected to break down a Brief into a prioritised list of tasks and their dependencies. The Apprentice should work in an iterative method – initially blocking out all the necessary elements and techniques and then iteratively improving the composite as a whole. A technically complete composite with all aspects catered for to a similar level is preferable to an incomplete composite with a few highly refined elements. The Apprentice should demonstrate that they have considered all potential issues and have developed solutions for all technical problems within the Brief. It is not expected that the result is artistically finished but it should include all the elements and technical solutions to be in a state ready for presentation for creative direction.

The Activity will cover the following techniques:

- roto-scoping
- green/bluescreen keying
- simple image tracking (either planar or camera solve)
- compositing, including colour grading

An example of a Synoptic Competence Activity is given below:

Material Provided:

Minimum of two overlapping takes of the same actor sitting at 5 different seats around a dinner table. They have some overlapping action, reaching for a glass, passing a jug etc. Shot with a repeated motion control camera move in a kitchen set with a window filled with greenscreen.

1x static camera take of the view outside the window

Brief:

Take the material provided and composite the takes together to produce a shot that shows 5 clones sharing a meal at a dinner table. Use keying techniques to replace the window with the

outside view. The outside view will need to be tracked to match the foreground footage. Use roto-scope techniques to correctly layer any interaction and overlapping action between the 5 clones.

This is a technical knowledge and skill test, not an artistic ability test. Concentrate on including all the elements, block out the shot and cover all needed tools and techniques. Make sure the shot is technically correct in all areas, the window is tracked correctly and that the elements are layered correctly for example. Render a block out composite.

Refine areas as time permits.

Time allowed 6 hours.

The Assessment Organisation will ensure that the framework for an activity is appropriate for all sizes of VFX studio. And that appropriate assessment guidance including descriptors for 'pass' and 'distinction' is provided. The activity will be conducted in a 'controlled' environment. The requirements for the 'controlled' environment will include a quiet room, away from the normal place of work, with dedicated workstation and access to all the required equipment [this could take place on the provider's premises]. An invigilator from the Assessment Organisation will be present to ensure authenticity of the Apprentice's work.

Portfolio

In the Portfolio, the Apprentice will present evidence from real-work activities including an employer set project, their Reflective Blog and any personal projects completed during the Apprenticeship. . It will showcase their very best work, enabling them to demonstrate how they have applied their knowledge, skills and understanding in a real-work environment to achieve real-work objectives.

The employer set project which will typically take place over a one week period will be designed to enable the apprentice to demonstrate that they can:

- Respond to a written or oral brief
- Prioritise tasks with time estimates
- Contribute and respond to team objectives
- Block out a shot with all elements present
- Build composites with flexibility in mind
- Present work in progress to a supervisor
- Respond to feedback and brief changes from the supervisor

Produce a supervisor approved composite

The Apprentice's performance, as they are undertaking the employer set project, will be monitored by their employer who will provide a report for inclusion in the Apprentice's Portfolio. The Apprentice will also comment on their own performance in their Reflective Blog.

The Portfolio will contain:

- A 2-3 minute Showreel (video compilation) of completed tasks. The tasks included in the Portfolio should be those that have been agreed between employer, training provider and the Apprentice.
- The Reflective Blog it is suggested that this takes the form of a report per on-• programme piece of work completed. It must include the Apprentice's reflection on their performance in the employer set project. The Apprentice may want to take notes more regularly for their own self-assessment and in order to inform these reports but these will not be assessed. The Reflective Blog will serve to confirm the authenticity of their achievements and support them to prepare for, and to perform well at, the interview.
- The employer report on the Apprentice's performance in the employer set project. •
- Any other materials that the Apprentice, with support from the training provider, wishes • to be assessed e.g. personal photography, drawings, tool demos or other videos.

Employers and training providers will assist the Apprentice to develop their Portfolio to ensure that it is complete, that it covers the totality of the Apprenticeship Standard and has been completed to a satisfactory standard. Wherever possible, this will be hosted on an electronic platform. It may have to be contained within the employer's systems for security purposes.

The completed Portfolio will be assessed by an independent assessor from the Assessment Organisation who will make their own judgement on the Apprentice's application of knowledge, skills and their work behaviour (see also Graded Assessments below).

Structured interview

The interview represents the culmination of the End Point Assessment and is a structured discussion between the Apprentice and their independent assessor, focusing primarily on the Portfolio but referencing the entire Apprenticeship. It covers what the Apprentice has done and how they have done it, reflecting on their performance throughout the Apprenticeship and where they might have approached things differently. This enables this element of the End Point Assessment to include a broad range of skills and behaviours, such as critical thinking and problem-solving, internal and external relationships, communication skills and business/ commercial understanding.

The Timed Knowledge Test, Synoptic Competence Activity and the Portfolio will have been assessed prior to the Interview. The Interview does not provide the independent assessor with an opportunity to revise their grading of the other End Point Assessments.

A structured brief will be developed by the Assessment Organisation as part of the assessment materials, for the independent assessor to support the Interview discussion. This will ensure that consistent approaches are taken and that all key areas are appropriately explored.

Ensuring Independence

Independence and impartiality are achieved through assessment of all the End Point Assessments and grading being undertaken by an independent assessor appointed by the Assessment Organisation. The Assessment Organisation will be sources from The Register of Assessment Organisations. Neither the employer nor training provider will play any part in the assessment beyond on programme formative assessment.

Delivering consistent, reliable judgements

The assessment methods described above are designed to produce assessment outcomes that are consistent and reliable, allowing fair and proper comparison between Apprentices employed in the VFX industry regardless of the size of the studio.

The Apprenticeship Standard defines what is required in terms of knowledge, skills and behaviours. The approach puts the Standard at the heart of the assessment process, ensuring that judgments on occupational competence are consistent and that there is standardisation and comparability between employers.

Assessment organisations, who should demonstrate experience in the industry, will develop specifications and guidance documents for the tools, materials and techniques to be used in assessment including pass marks for the Timed Knowledge Test, pass criteria for the Synoptic Competence Activity and pass/distinction criteria for the Portfolio and Interview. Independent assessors, who will be appointed by the Assessment Organisation, should have credibility within the sector. This will be evidenced by substantial industry experience, of which at least 12 months should be within the last 3 years to ensure current and relevant sector knowledge and understanding. These measures will provide the necessary confidence that those undertaking assessment have the necessary skills and industry knowledge to make reliable judgements. Given that the estimate of Apprentices for this Apprenticeship is 50 per year and the demographics of the employers, we consider that there will be sufficient qualified assessors.

Delivering accurate, valid judgements

The assessment process has been developed specifically against the Standard and is designed to test the totality of the Standard. The combination of assessment methods in the final end point assessment ensures that the assessment of each Apprentice is based on their performance and reflects accurately the quality of their work and the application of skills, knowledge and

Crown copyright 2016 You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence. Visit <u>www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence</u>

9

behaviours specified in the Standard. Taken together, the components of the End Point Assessment build a cumulative picture of performance against the Standard. The application of grading at 'pass' or 'distinction' without recourse to 'merit' supports consistency of judgement and ensures that pass grade is of a high standard in itself. This also adds clarity for employers to understand the value of the Apprenticeship apropos their recruitment processes for vacancies.

- The Timed Knowledge Test provides consistency and comparability.
- The Synoptic Competence Activity gives the Apprentice the chance to demonstrate that they can apply the knowledge and skills they have learned in controlled conditions, without the conflicting pressures often present in everyday work environments. This provides a relatively high degree of consistency and comparability, increasing the accuracy of the assessment decision.
- The Portfolio is based on a number of real-work and personal projects which, taken together, cover the totality of the Standard, and demonstrates the application of knowledge and competence in the work environment. The Portfolio may also contain any relevant personal projects in which apprentices have been engaged during their apprenticeship. Full guidance on the expected components of the Portfolio will be available to training providers.
- The Interview with an independent assessor allows the Apprentice to demonstrate how they have planned and carried out their work. This again increases accuracy and validity by providing the assessor with an opportunity to assess depth and breadth in the application of underlying knowledge, skills and behaviours.
- The Independent Assessor will have marked and graded the Timed Knowledge Test, the Synoptic Competence Activity and the Portfolio before the Interview with the Apprentice. This ensures the independence of each End Point Assessment method, that the Apprentice is fairly judged on each and that they are neither advantaged nor disadvantaged by grade polishing in the Interview.



Graded Assessments

Independent assessors will grade the Apprentice, using all the information gained in the End Point Assessment. The table below will be used to calculate the final grade of Pass or Distinction. To receive a Distinction the apprentice will need to pass the Timed Knowledge Test, the Synoptic Competence Activity and receive Distinction grades in the Portfolio and Interview assessments.

Please note: there is no Distinction grade available for the Timed Knowledge Test or Synoptic Competence Activity. The Apprentice can achieve a Distinction grade for the Portfolio and Interview only. Industry practice is such that knowledge, understanding and essential competence serve to *support* the end product and it is here that evidence of distinctive work is displayed; hence the identification of the Portfolio as one of the end point assessment activities suitable for grading at Distinction. Also, the Distinction is designed to recognise the small proportion of apprentices who are seen as outstanding employees, regularly going beyond what is required to be competent in the role and seen as having greatest potential for the future. Thus, to achieve a Distinction, the apprentice will need to demonstrate a higher level of performance across the full range of knowledge, skills and behaviours; hence in order achieve an overall Distinction, the Apprentice must be awarded a Distinction grade for both Portfolio **and** Interview. *The Portfolio must be graded before the Interview takes place.* This avoids the potential for grade polishing thus supporting the consistency and reliability of judgement.



Crown copyright 2016 You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence. Visit www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence

Timed knowledge test	Pass	Pass	Pass	Pass
Competence Activity	Pass	Pass	Pass	Pass
Portfolio :	Pass	Distinction	Pass	Distinction
Structured interview	Pass	Pass	Distinction	Distinction
Apprenticeship Award Grade	Pass	Pass	Pass	Distinction

Pass

To gain a **Pass**, apprentices must have, in the judgement of the independent assessor:

- Obtained a pass mark in the Timed Knowledge Test.
- Obtained a pass mark for the Synoptic Competence Activity
- Produced a Portfolio that covers the skills, knowledge and behaviours specified in the Standard and shows that their work is at the expected level of quality.
- Undertaken an Interview with an independent assessor and demonstrated work and behaviours at an expected level of quality.

Distinction

To be awarded a **Distinction**, apprentices must have, in the judgement of the independent assessor:

- Obtained a pass mark in the Timed Knowledge Test.
- Obtained a pass mark in the Synoptic Competence Activity.
- Produced a Portfolio that covers the skills, knowledge and behaviours specified in the Standard and shows that their work is of an outstanding level of quality. *
- Undertaken an Interview with an independent assessor and demonstrated work and behaviours at an outstanding level of quality.*

*Apprentices will be provided with pass requirements and grade descriptors for each End Point Assessment as part of the guidance materials supplied by the Assessment Organisation and will be advised by the training provider throughout their Apprenticeship as to what is required of them to achieve a Distinction.

Industry will support the Assessment Organisation to produce detailed criteria and exemplars for assessing Pass and Distinction criteria for each end point assessment activity. Areas to consider when defining the Distinction grade will include:

- High level of attention to detail.
- Going above the minimum required to fulfil the brief.

- Consideration of future changes, designing in flexibility into the working scripts and setups.
- Engagement from other members of the team and understanding how their work will be used by other team members.
- Producing and suggesting multiple options that fulfil the brief, before refining to the final solution.
- Researching reference artwork and photography that can help inform the final composition of their shots.

Affordability and sustainability

The costs and practicality of assessment have been an important consideration in the development of this assessment approach, not least because of the number of smaller businesses who employ apprentices in this role. Above all it is important that each aspect of the assessment adds value to the employer whilst enabling the Apprentice to demonstrate his/her achievement across the Standard, playing to their strengths. Cost effectiveness has been incorporated in a number of ways:

- Employers will be required to co-invest in the training and assessment and so it is vital to develop an approach to assessment that adds value to them. Thus the nature of the assessment methods are reflective of standard industry working practice.
- The pragmatic combination of assessment methods ensures breadth, validity and reliability.
- The involvement of the employer in defining work projects for the Portfolio reduces the need for multiple visits by the independent assessor.
- Formative assessment through regular on programme appraisals before the end point assessment reduces the requirement for any additional qualifications and associated awarding organisation costs.

The costs of assessment per apprentice are estimated as follows:

- assessment of Portfolio 3.5 hours
- Invigilation and assessment of Timed Knowledge Test 3 hours
- Invigilation and assessment of Synoptic Competence Activity 7 hours
- Structured interview and application of grading 1.5 hours

The estimate therefore is that the cost of assessment should be no more than 15 hours per Apprentice. (Note: there is no qualification attached to this apprenticeship Standard). We estimate that assessment will cost 10-15% of the overall cost of the Apprenticeship.

The intention is that the same approach to assessment will be used for each Standard for the VFX industry, thereby providing a cost effective and sustainable approach.

Quality Assurance and Quality Control

Training providers and the Assessment Organisation will be required to demonstrate appropriate quality assurance arrangements in respect of support for the Apprentice on programme and for the End Point Assessment respectively.

We are actively assessing the potential for either an employer led approach to the external quality assurance of the Apprenticeship or the feasibility of working with Ofqual to determine and carry out appropriate policy, procedure and practice that can accommodate more than one Assessment Organisation. Assessment Organisations who wish to deliver against the Standard will need to be on the SFA Register of Assessment Organisations.

Where there is more than one Assessment Organisation, guidance from industry to inform the development of assessment guidance documentation will be made freely available to each and all. The Assessment Organisation will make assessment guidance and grading criteria available to independent assessors, providers, individual employers and Apprentices.

Manageability and Feasibility

The Sector is represented by a growing network of actively involved employers across the VFX industries collaborating to create and drive up the skills necessary to accelerate the growth of the industry in the UK.

Implementation Plan

The approach to development and implementation will continue to be informed by close consultation with training providers and assessment organisations. Industry will work closely with all those involved in the training and assessment to learn any early lessons, to identify any required remedial actions and to share best practice across the delivery of this apprenticeship and others within the VFX industry. Illustrative Guidance Documents will be produced by the Assessment Organisation for each of the End Point Assessments. The lead employer group will ensure that these are appropriate, cover the Standard effectively and offer sufficient supportive guidance and clarity for provider and Apprentice.